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EXPLANATORY STATEMENT
The appellee has not been favored with any abstract
or brief on behalf of the appellants, hence the question
of just what we should say as to abstract has given us

some concern. Being somewhat unfamiliar with the
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practice in this court, counsel for appellee is relying
upon the spirit of fairness and liberality which has al-
ways characterized this Court for indulgence, if, under
these circumstances, our brief does not comply strictly
with the rules. Assuming that it is proper, in the ab-
sence of a statement of the case on the part of appellant,
as provided in rule 21, to make an abstract of the record,
we proceed to do so before writing the brief,
“ ABSTRACT
The court will observe that there are two of these

cases but as they involve the same questions and the
same evidence, stipulation of counsel has been made a

part of the record that both causes may be submitted to

this court upon the printed record in the case of Frank

Moore, Ed Hicks, J. B. Knox, Ed Coleman and Panl

Hall, Appellants, vs. E. H. Dempsey, Keeper of the Ar-
kansas State Penitentiary, Appellee, and that these
causes may be consolidated and submitted together upon
one printed record (Tr., p. 106).

Appellants filed in the District Court of the United

States for the Western Division of the Eastern District
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State of Arkansas their petition for writ of habeas
corpus against appellee alleging that they are citi-
zens and residents of the State of Arkansas and
confined in the Arkansas State Penitentiary, in the
jurisdiction of the court; that appellee was Keeper
of said penitentiary and as such was unlawfully re-
straining appellants of their liberty and éoEmv un-
less prevented, deprive them of their lives in
violation of the Constitution and laws of the United
States and the State of Arkansas; that they are
negroes and were arrested and placed in the jail of
Phillips County, Arkansas, and until their trial were
kept in confinement upon charge of murder in the first
degree for the killing of one Clinton Lee; that said Lee
was killed while a member of a posse of white men
who were attempting to quell a race riot growing out
of the killing of one Adkins at Hoop Spur in said coun-
ty; that at the time of the killing of Lee, appellants and
a large number of other members of their race were as-
sembled in their church house at Hoop Spur with no un-

lawful purpose; that while they were thus assembled,

white persons began firing guns or pistols from the out-
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side inte said chureh house, having come there in auto-
mobiles for the purpose of breaking up the meeting;
that Adkins was killed either by members of his own
party or by some other person unknown to appellants
but that the posse sent word to Helena, the county seat,
that Adkine had been killed by the negroes in cold blood
while on a peaceable mission, which report caused great
excitement in said county, which excitement spread
into other counties and States; that, early the next day,
a large number of white men armed themselvs and rush-
ed to the scene of ‘thie trouble, same being the vicinity
of Elaine, and began: the indiseriminate killing of ne-
groes; that highly inflammatory articles were publish:
ed in the press referring to the incident as “race riot”
and “uprising of the negroes” and “a deliberately plan-
of Elaine; that the officers of Philiips County called
ned insurrection among the negroes against the whites”
upon the Governor of the State and the Governor in
turn culled upon the commanding officer at Camp Pike
for soldiers to assist in quelling the disturbance and a

compauny of soldiers was dispatched to the scene of the

5

trouble who took charge of the situation and finally suc-
ceeded in stopping the slaughter.

It was further alleged in the petition that appel-
lants and many others of their race were incarcerated
in the jail at Helena on a charge of murder; that a
Jommittee of Seven, composed of leading business men
and officials, was selected for the purpose of probing
into the situation and picking out those to be condemned
to death and those to be sentenced to the vms?obﬁuqm
that said Committee took charge and proceeded to have
prought before them a large number of those incarcer-
ated in jail and examined them H.mmmu&nw their own
counection and the connection of others accused; that,
if evidence unsatisfactory to said Committee was not
given, they would be sent out to an adjoining room in
the jail and tortured by beating and whipping and by
being placed in an electric chair naked and having a
current of electricity turned on to shock and frighten
them into giving damaging statements; and that strang-

Iine drugs were put np their noses for the same purpose;

3

et . e 15000
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and that by these means false evidence was extorted to
be used against appellants.

The petition further alleged that on every day
from October 1st, 1919, until after their trial on the 3rd
of November, 1919, the press carried inflammatory ar-
ticles giving accounts of the trouble, which aroused
bitter feeling aginst appellants and other members of
their race, oné of ‘which articles was a statement from
the above-mentioned Committee of Seven purporting to
give the faets concerningg a “deliberately planned in-
surrection of the negroes against the whites,” in which
it was stated that the Union, of which appellants were
members, was “established for the purpose of banding
negroes together for the killing of white people,” copy
of said article being attached as exhibit “A" to the pe-
tition; that, shortly after appellants were placed in jail,
a mob of hundreds of men marched to the jail and would
have lynched appellants except for the interference of
soldiers and the assurance of the officials that appellants

would be executed according to law (Tr., pp. 1-3).

T

Petition further stated that, prior to October 1st,
1919, appellants were share-croppers; that nearly all
the land in Phillips County was owned by white men
and rented out to share-croppers; that for some years
past there had grown up a system among the land own-
ers of furnishing negro tenants supplies with which to
make crops and that the system was calculated and did
deprive the negro tenants of all their interest in said
crops w_ that, in pursuance of said system, the land-owners
refused to give their share-croppers an itemized state-
ment of their indebtedness or to permif them to move or
sell any part of their crops (Tr., p. 3) but that the land-
lords themselves disposed of said crops and gave the
tenants no account but paid them only such amount
as they wished; that, to protect themselves against this
systeni, the negro farmers organized socities with a view
of uniting their financial resources in moral and legal
measures to overcome the same and that the land own-
ers were bitterly opposed to such societies and sought to

prevent their organization; that, on September 30th,
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1919, appellants and other members of the Ratio Lodge
near Elaing Tearned that some negro farmers had em-
ployed an attornéy of Little Rock, Arkansas, to repre-
sent them in effecting a settlement with the land owners
and would be at Elaine on the following day to meet
all the parties concerned, perfect arrangements and
learn of the facts, as far as possible, and they decided
to hold a meeting with a view of seeing him while there
and engaging hisg serviees as attorney to protect their
interests and that, accordingly, they met that night at
Hoop Spur church house, which resulted, as before set
out, in the killing of Adkins and the breaking up of the
meeting; that, on October 1st, 1919, the son and agent
of the attorney which appellants proposed to employ
arrived 2t Elaine for a consultation but was arrested
and barely escaped being mobbed and was taken to the
jail at Helena and imprisoned until the thirty-first day
of the month when he was indicted on & charge of bar-
ratry and on that day was told by ofticials that he

would be released but that he must leave secretely by

9
closed automobile and go to West Helena, four miles
away, and take the train so as to avoid being mobbed,
and that his departure was fixed by the judge of the
Circuit Court who tried the cases of appellants,

The petition further alleged that the Circuit Court
of Philips County convened October 27th, 1919, and that
a Grand Jury was organized, composed wholly of white
men one of whom was a member of the Committee of
Seven and many of whom were in the posses above-men-
tioned; that, during the session of the Grand Jury ap-
pellants and many other prisoners were frequently‘taken
before it in an effort to extract from them false testi-
mony and that they were frequently whipped, beaten
and tortured and that by these methods false testimony
was secured against appellants; that, on October 29th,
1919, a joint indictment was returned against appellants
accusing them wrongfully of the murder of Clinton Lee;
that, on November 3rd, 1919, appellants were arraigned
and an attorney appointed by the court to defend them

and that they were not given an opportunity to employ
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an attorney of their own choice and that the attorney ap-
pointed or them did not consult with them, did not take
any steps to prepare for their defense and did not ask
anything about their witnesses; that appellants were
immediately placed on trial before a white jury and the
trial closed on a romi.cm of the State’s witnesses alone,
and that the jury quickly returned a verdict of guilty of
murder in the first degree and appellants were sentenced
to death by electrocution for December 27th, 1919 (Tr.,
pp. 3-5).

The petition further alleged that the trial lasted
only about an hour and that only two witnesses testified
to anything te connect them in any way with the kill-
ing of Clinton Lee, said witnesses being Walter Ward
and John Jefferson, both under indictment for the same
offense, and that said testimouny was procured as above
described and was wholly false and not given voluntarily
and given on promise of immunity and that said witness-
es afterwards plead guilty of murder in the second de-

oree and were sentenced to terms of imprisonment and
gre
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afterwards made affidavits showing the falsity of their
testimony and the means of its acquisition, which affi-
davits were attached as exhibits “B” and “C”, respect-
ively, to said petition (Tr., p. 5).

A certified transcript of the proceedings in the
Phillips Circuit Court, which tried the m@@mzwuwm as
above described, was attached to said petition as exhibit
«p»,

Petition further alleged that large crowds of white
people bent on the condemnation and death of the ap-
pellants thronged the corthouse and grounds all during
the trial and that, on account of the publicity given the
killing, and on account of the fact that appellants were
neyroes, and on account of the fact that the Judge, the
Sheriff, the Clerk, and the jurors were all white men,
and on account of race prejudice it was impossible for
appellants to get a fair and impartial trial; that the
attorney appointed to defend appellants knew that the
prejudice against them was such that they could not get

a fair trial yet he filed no petition for change of venue
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nor request for them to prepare defense and did nothing
to protect appellants’ interest; that appellants did not
get a fair trial, but that if they had been given an oppor-
tunity they would have employed counsel of their own
choice and would have made a defense ('Ir., pp. 5-6).
The petition further alleged that the feeling against
appellants was such that it overawed the Judge, the jury
and the m:ogm%. appointed to defend for appellants
and that all were dominated by the mob spirit and that
the court, although a court of original jurisdiction in
felony cases. lost its jurisdiction by virtue of such mob
domination and that the result was but an empty cere-
mony carried through in apparent form of law and that
the verdict of the jury was a mob verdict and, therefore,
the judgment against appellants is nullity (Tr, p. 6);
that the entire trial, verdict and judgment against ap-
pellants had already really taken place before said Com-
mittee of Neven and that when court convened the pro-
gram laid out by said Committee was carvied through

and that the verdict was a part of the prearranced
] u
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scheme and judgment of said committee (Tr., p. 7). At-
tached as exhibit “E” to the petition is what purports
to be a letter from said Committee of Seven to the
Governor of the State (Tr., p. 7).

Petition further alleged that it is the practice in
Arkansas to select Jury Commissioners from the white
race and that these Jury Commissioners select grand
and peétit jurors from the white race-and that the Judges
of the courts appointing said Jury Commissioners are
white men and that all of this is discrimination against
the negro race; that this has been the practice in Phil-
lips County for more than thirty years although the ne-
aro population of said county greatly exceeds the white
population, and that a large proportion of the negroes
are possessed of the legal, moral and intellectual quali-
fications required for jurors; that the exclusion of said
negroes from juries was intentional; that, under the
laws of Arkansas, an objection to an  indictment on the
ground that it was found by a grand jury composed of

white men must be made at the impaneling of the grand
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jury and objection to the petit jury must be made before
a plea is entered to the indictment; that appellants did
not have an opportunity to register their objections in
either instance (Tr., p. 7).

Petition further alleged that, after their conviction
and sentence to death, the friends of appellants em-
ployed other counsel who filed a motion for a new trial,
said motion being a part of exhibit “D” to the petition;
that said motioh was overruled and an appeal taken to
the Supreme Couft of the State of Arkansas, the highest
court in said State, where, on March 29th, 1920, the judg-
ment was affirmed, copy of the opinion being attached
as exhibit “F” to the petition and being Hicks vs. State,
143 Ark., 158; that, thereafter, appellants applied to
the Supreme Court of the United States for a writ of
certiorari to the the Supreme Court of Arkansas, said
application being denied October 11, 19205 that, in Au-
gust, 1921, the Governor fixed September 23rd, 1921, as

the date of execution (Tr., p. 8).
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Petition further alleged that on October 19th, 1920,
the local post of the American Legion at Helena, com-
posed of 300 white ex-service men of Phillips County,
passed a resolution calling on the Governor for the ex-
ecution of appellants and protesting against the commu-
tation of the death sentence, copy of said resolution be-
ing attached to the petition as exhibit “H”; that the
Rotary Club and the Lions Club, of Helena, both com-
posed of leading business men, adopted similar reso-
lutions, same being attached as exhibits “I” and :M.:v
respectively, to the petition (Tr., p. 8).

The petition further alleged that the trials, convie-
tions and reversals of the cases of others accused of par-
ticipation in the killings growing out of the Elaine riot
showed the existence of mob spirit (Tr., p. 9).

The petition further alleged that, on June 8th, 1921,
they filed in the Chancery Court of Pulaski County pe-
tition for writ of habeas corpus setting out the matters
and things stated in the instant petitior. and that said

writ was granted and hearing set for June 10th, 1921,
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but that, on June 9th, 1921, the Attorney General for
the State filed petition with the Supreme Court of Ar-
kansas for writ of prohibition against the Chancellor
and mwvm:mb? which writ was issued on June 20th,
1921, by the Supreme Court, prohibiting the Chancsllor
from hearing the cause and which writ, alsu, quashed
thewrit of habe#is ‘corpus theretofore issued by the Chan-
cellor; that on August 4th, 1921, the Hon. Oliver Wen-
dell Holmes, Associate Justice of the United States Su-
preme Court, denied the application of appellants for
writ of error in the :matter of said writ of prohibition
(Tr., p. 10).

Petition contended that, by reason of these thines,
appellants were deprived of their rights in violation of
Section 1 of the 14th Amendment to the Constitution of
the United States and under the laws of the United
States enacted in pursuance thereto, in that they were
denied the equal protection of the law and were convict-

ed without due process of law; prayer for writ of habeas
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corpus for their discharge. The petition was verified
(Tr, p. 10).

Exhibit “A" to the petition purports to be a copy
of a statement puvblished in a newspaper at Helena Oc-
tober 7Tth, 1919, by E. M. Allen, giving thé names of
seven citizens of Helena chosen to direct operations in
putting down the insurrection and discovering and pun-
ishing the guilty parties and calling on all persons, both
white and black, in possession of useful information to
come forward and give it and that such action would
be for the public safety and the informant’s identity
would not be revealed. The statement said that the
Committee of Seven was composed of leading business
men of Helena and that it had been anthorized to carry
on the investigation both by the municipal and county
authorities. After setting out, on its own responsibility
the above and the fact that Mr. Allen was President of
the Business Men’s League and, also, President of the
National Association of Insurance Agents, the head-

quarters of which were in New York City, the newspa-
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per then gives Mr. Allen’s Statement in full as follows: were white men and in sympathy with white men of

o . the new
“The present trouble with the negroes in Phil- the South, it was impossible for the negroes to get

. . . i h h Hed i
lips County is not a race riot. It is a deliberately in the army, and so the government had called into

. . he ri hat h ised them f i
W planned insurrection of the negroes against the the rights that had been promise om for service

. . . existence this organization which would be sup-
whites, directed by an organization known as the ° P

t h t in def f the o]
Progressive Farmers’ and Household Union of ported by the government in defense o negroes

against the white people. He told them it was nec-
America, established for the purpose of banding asHin ¢ whtte peope "

essary for all members of the union to arm them-
negroes together for the killing of white people. Y m

selves i tion for the d hen they should
This ‘union’ was started by Robert L. Hill, a negro Selves i preparation o the day when they ® «

. be called to attack their whit SOrs.
26 years old, of Winchester, Arkansas, who saw in ¢ called upon to attac eI WhILe Oppressor

. . . “The sl of the anization is ‘We battle
7 it an opportunity of making easy money. He had ¢ slogan ¢ organization 18 .

. . for our rights.” The password of all the lodges was
been a farmer all his life, but lately had been posing orourme 16 pASSWORd ot & g

. . . . “We have just begun.’ 3
as a ‘private detective doing work in this and all ¢ Ju ®

| forei ountries.’ “He told them that those members who were
oreign countries.

abl buy iti d i
W “He started his first ‘union” work in April of unable to buy munitions would be supplied by the
|

. . . . union from the government storehouse at Win- «
this vear. He organized the Ratio Lodge in May ® .

. . . chester.
of this year. He chose Ratio because his mother G
. “The purely mercenary side of all develops as
happened to be living there. He told the darkies h 1 v Y p ;
_ i
, follows: Negro men were charged $1.50 entrance '
that he was an agent of the government and because : ° ged § > 4

. o fees and Negro women 50 cents. At the second or
the senators and representatives at Washington M

|
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third meeting he would bring Dr. V. E. Powell of
Winehester with him, who purported to be the ex-
amining physician for the government in its work
of registering the negroes in defense of their rights.
A certificate ,smm. filled out and signed by Negro
upon payment of fifty cents. This certificate was
supposed to'béa registration document. Those ne-
groes who were possessed of funds in amounts from
$5.00 to $25.00 were enrolled in an advanced sec-
tion of the umion upon payment of whatever sum
he (Hill) could procure in excess of $5.00, a certif-
icate was given, entitling the holder to attend the
congresses of the ‘union’ at Winchester and speak
on the floor of the meeting regarding any questions
brought up, and to assist in keeping the Constitu-
tion of the United States from being questioned.
“Another form of extortion was to sell shares
of $10.00 each to the negroes in a proposed building
to be erected by the ‘union’ at Winchester. T1ill

would find out what negroes possessed thrift stamps
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and Liberty Bonds and would issue a certificate
stating that so many shares had been purchased at
$10.00 per share, and all negroes buying shares in
the amount of fifty dollars or more were told that
their names would be engraved in the building. In
other words, lie had so planned his campaign that
any negro possessing from fifty cents to fifty dollars
was given an opportunity to invest in something
connected with the ‘union’.

“He then advised the members that the gen-
eral dttorney of the ‘union’ in Little Rock would
for an additional consideration represent all the
negroes in their settléments with the landlords dur-
ing the ginning season. He went to several of the
meetings with typewritten powers of attorney which
he had signed by the negroes, collecting amounts
from twenty-five dollars to fifty dollars each with
the crop as security. He was very adroit in making
use of certain circulars issued by the govermment

and in distorting the purpose of the Arkansas Ware-
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house and Ginners’ Law to convince the Negroes
that the United States government was endeavor-
ing to correct evils which he alleged existed among
the farmers.

“He further told the negroes that the plan for
Secretary Lane to provide homesteads for the sol-
diers had been carried out where the white soldiers
were concerned, but the negroes had been refused
participation in it. We found where negro soldiers
at Elaine had sold their discharge papers for sums
ranging from fifty to one hundred dollars on the
theory that such discharges entitled the holder to
forty acres of government land. He produced maps
of state lands in Elaine country (1,600) acres which
he said could be bought for $200. This amount was
raised at one meeting and paid to him in cash. This
land was all described and certain negroes had des-
ignated which parts of the various farms (all in
cultivation), they desired, to take over for them-

selves after the white people had been driven off.
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“He urged all lodges to decide upon a plan of
campaign when the day came to strike and desig-
nate the part to be played by every man. He told
them the government was erecting at Winchester
three huge storehouses where arms, ammunition
and trained soldiers would be ready for instant
use. On Wednesday morning after the first fight at
Hoop Spur the negroes crossed the track and lay
in the weeds all day waiting for Hill’s army to wbm-
terialize. They were within easy range of auto-
mobiles going to and from Hoop Spur all day and
could easily have fired into them but they wished to
wait for Hill’s army in order to clean up in one fell
SWOOp.

“The fight at Hoop Spur was unpremeditated
as far as the negroes were concerned as they were
organizing their forces Wednesday morning to at-
tack and capture Elaine but when runners inform-

ed the leaders that white men were entering the

woods at Hoop Spur they decided to go up and wipe
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out the little gang that was reported to be there,
before entering upon the more serious task of cap-
turing Elaime. They underestimated the size of the
force from Helena and the battle resulted.

“Every umm,no who joined these:lodges was given
to kill white people. Unquestionably the time for
attack had been set but plans had not been entirely
perfected and the shooting of the officers brought
on the insurrection ahead of schedule.

:?u@?ﬁ.‘mnrwﬁm used by Hill to obtain money
was to appoint leading negroes, or several of them,
in each lodge as private and foreign detectives—
furnishing them large nickle-plated stars-and a pair
of nickle-plated handcuffs, for which they paid him
$50.00 each.

“His meeting at Winchester in August was at-
tended and addressed by white men. He simply
played upon the ignorance and superstition of a
race of childrem—most of whom neither read nor

write.
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“J have cross-examined and talked to at least
one hundred prisoners at Elaine. They belong to
different lodges in that section. The stories they
tell are almost identical us to the promises and rep-
resentations made by Hill. He even told them that
probably some of the negroes would be called s@ow
to die before ‘equal rights’ would be assured, but
they tnust look upon themselves as crusaders and
die if necessary to secure the freedom of the other
members of their race.

“A remarkable thing about the developments
is that some of the ringleaders were found to be the
oldest and most reliable of the negroes whom we
have known for the past fifteen years. He had made
them believe that he had been intrusted with a sa-
cred mission which had to be carried out regardless
of consequences.

“All lodge meetings were required to maintain

an armed outer guard of six sentinels. Hill’s usual

A
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expression was, ‘Get your racks filled for the day
to come.’

“As far as oppression is concerned, many of the
negroes involved own mules, horses, cattle and au-
tomobiles and clear money every year on their
crops, after expenses are paid.” (Tr., pp. 12-14.)
Exhibit “B” to the petition was an affidavit of Wal-

ter Ward made in Lincoln County, Arkansas, on May
8th, 1921, on the State Convict Farm, saying that he
was at that time serving a term on a plea for murder
in the second degree for killing Clinton Lee and that
he was uot guilty and that he gave evidence against ap-
pellants under extortion about in the manner set out
in appellant’s petition but that he testified falsely (Tr.,
pp. 15-16).

Exhibit “B” to the petition also contained an affi-
davit of George Green who was then serving a term in
the penitentiary. He says that he testified against ap-
pellants falsely at their trials and that he testified as

he did under compulsion, the testimony being secured
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in the manner set out in appellants’ petition ‘except
that he was not whipped but that he saw others whipped.
He says that he was, at the time of making the affidavit,
serving a six-year sentence in the penitentiary on a plea
of guilty to murder in the second degree for killing
Clinton Lee (Tr., pp. 16-17).

Exhibit “C” to the petition purports to be an un-
signed, unsworn aftidavit of John Jefferson, a convict
in the State Penitentiary on a sentence to plea of guilty
for murder in the second degree for E:Em. Clinton Lee.
He says he was not guilty but plead guilty to keep from
being sent to the electric chair. He heard others being
whipped and saw the results and heard they had an elec-
tric chair in jail but didn’t see it. He says they threat-
ened to beat him up if he didn’t testify against the appel-
lants and that he did testify falsely to prevent this
(Tr., pp. 18-19).

Exhibit “D” is a transcript of the record of the
cases of appellants in the Phillips Circuit Court, where

appellants were tried. It begins on page 23 and ends

.
b
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on page 64 of the tramscript. wmm..m 23 gives the order
showing the court to be in session according to law and
pages 23 to 25 show the regular and lawful constitution
of the grand jury. Pages 25 and 26 show the regular
return of dn’ indictment against appellants. Page 27
shows service of copy of indictment on appellants. Be-
ginning on page 27 is bill of exceptions in regular form
settting out the testimony.

For the State, R. L. Brooks testified that he saw
Clinton Lee killed at the place and time charged in the
indictment and that the bullet came from the South (Tr.,
pp. 28-29)

Dr. O. Parker testified for the State that he was a
physician and saw Clinten Lee dying and that he died
in a few minutes afterwards, while the physician was
engaged with another wounded man and then he turned
and saw Mr. Lee after he was dead (Tr., p- 29)

Tom Faulkner testified on behalf of the State that
he was present at the killing and saw three negroes

three or four hundred yards South of the house and that
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he saw one of the negroes fire two shots toward the car
in which Lee was sitting (Tr., p. 30). That the killing
was done with a rifle, and that he did not know the par-
ties but knew they were negroes (Tr., p. 31).

d ow,u Jefferson testified for the State that he knew
the defendants and belonged to the Farmers’ Household
and Progessive Union at Elaine and that appellant Hicks
was president of one Lodge and appellant Knox was
president of another (Tr., p. 31) and that he was pres
ent at the lodge and that the members took guns and
that they met Thursday night before the killing and that
they had the guns that night (Tr., pp. 31-32) and that
lle went to Moore’s house before daylight on October 1st
and heard Frank Moore say that they had been into it
at Hoop Spur and they had killed a man (Tr., p. 33).
He saw all five of the appellants. He heard Frank Moore

saying during the morning on the bridge in the road and
he says come on up here, don’t you hear that shooting;
let’s go up there and help them people out and he paired

us up, two and two. It was Frank Moore and Hicks




80

and Knox; these men over here. Moore got in front and
says ¢ome ony let’s go and help them people out at the
shootihg; and ‘he Started oh out through the field and
through the woods téward Hoop Spur; Moore in front,
Hicks ih the middle and Knox at the rear end. Kunox's
business Was to shoot down anyone who broke ranks.
Paul Hall was il the gang. Atid so was Sweat Coleman.
He had a 43-70 gun. Frank Moore; Ed Hicks and Knox
had nte in eharge, dnd Coleman and Paul Hall was along,
and all had guns. We come out throngh tlie field about a
gquarfer of & niile from the house and saw a bunch of
white merd antd Hicks 8ays let’s go across this way and
tut them off (Tr., pp. 84-85). Ed Hicks and Frank
Moore guided ds. As we erossed the railroad; Frank
Hicks made two shots and Moore was out there in the
road near Hicks (Tr., pp. 35-36). Sweat Coleman was
in the gang; so was Jo Knox. After Hicks shot the first
shot he took his gun down and re-loaded it and somebody
in the gang told him don’t shoot but he says I am going

to shoot and when he made the second shot he said *1
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would have got that guy if it hadn’t been for the horse.”
There was a horse between Him and this getleman where
he shot. After that, the gang split up, some on the
West side of the railroad and some on the East (Tr.,
p.- 37).
CRrOSS-BXAMINATION,

It was nigh a mile or two from where this shooting
was done by Hicks up to where the shooting we had
heard. After the shooting we went over to Yellow Banks
and I was arrested on the Alderman place. I have been
indicted for murder inthe first degree. I have never
been before the grand jury. I didn’t expect to kill any
one when I went itito the lodige and did not join for that
purpose (Tr., p. 38).

Q. Whose gun did Ed Hicks use in shooting
at Mr. Lee?

A. I seen him with it when T first seen him; I
ain’t seen him get it from nobody else.

Q. Did Sweat Coleman have a gun at that

time?
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A. Yeg, sir, he had a 45-72 (Tr., 38).

Q. When did you find out that somebody was
to be killed after you joined that lodge?

A. I didr’t find out that nobody was to be
killed but I heard this Hill mention it in the lodge
that it was going to be trouble but just for to say
kill somebody, I'never heard nothing about that
(Tr, p. wwv..

Walter Wdxr'd; for the State, testified as follows:

I know Paul Hall, Frank Moore, Ed Hicks, Sweat
Coleman, J. E. Knox and I belong to the FFarmers’ Pro-
gressive Household Union of America—the same lodge
that Hicks and them belong to, I inean these fellows over
here. Hill and Hicks had charge of the lodge that I
joined but I saw these other fellows in the Union there,
They all taken guns. They said they wag looking for
trouble. That is what the head leaders said. Ed Hicks
is one of them and Hill and Frank Moore (Tr., p. 40).
About half past four on Wednesday morning Paul Hall

woke me at home and told me to go to Ed Hicks’ house.
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‘He said Frank Moore ent him after me and for me to
go and wake up the President. I didn’t know what he
wanted me to do until I got over there. I gota gun from
Frank Moore, a .32 Smith & Wesson. He didn’t tell me
what he wanted me to do with the gun until the shoot-
ing at Hoop Spur then he hollowed “Come on” and he
lines us up two deep apd he got in the lead and had
Hicks near the middle and Sweat was behind (Tr., P-
42). Knox and Paul Hall were in the line but 1 couldn’t
tell you where. I heard Frank Moore telling Ed Hicks .
that he had been to Hoop Spur and had killed a white
man and a colored one and he said let’s go and he says if
a man breaks rank he was going to turn loose on him and
if they find a man picking cotton in the field, that is
where they were going to kill him at, right away. I
caw Sweat Coleman there at Frank Moore’s house that
morning and he had 2 45-70, but I didn’t hear him say
what he was going to do with 1t. From Moore’s house
we went on up to where that gang of white folks was at

the house.and we split up there. Frank Moore and
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Frank Hicks sat down in the road. Paul Hall was over
in the field on the other wSonm the road. Old man
Coleman was on the other side of the road, I don’t know
which side, Knox was up on the railroad; Frank Hicks
made two shots, about ten yards from-where I was;
Frank Moore $mm sitting down close to him. He shot
right up the road at the McCoy house North (Tr., pp.
42-43).
CRrOSS-EXAMINATION,

I was told to go to Ed Hicks’ house and wake him up
and to wake E.v all on that road and I went. Nobody
didn’t go with me but some come behind me. All the
gang was behind me. I am indicted for killing Clinton
Lee, but I didn’t shoot at him nor tell anybody else to
nor have any agreement with anybody else.

Q. Did any one in this affair have any agree-
ment there with anybody else that anyone would be
or should be killed?

A. That was Hill's speech that night (Tr., p.

43).

35

After the shooting I run—started to run and they
said God Damn you stop; where in the Hell you negroes
going and we stopped and some of us laid down in ?m
woods and some of us got behind stumps and laid there
until Frank Moore said let’s go and we went on back
down in the corn field and when the train passed up
Frank and them went on to Henry Thomas’ house. I
went across Yellow Banks and stayed there until dark.
I went on across Mr. Craig’s and Mr. Crow’s field and
back on the place. Knox was over there (Tr., p. 44). 1
woke up the President and told him Frank Moore sent
for us to meet over at Frank Moore’s house and we met
over there (Tr., p. 45).

Dave Archer testified for the State as follows:

I know Paul Hall, Frank Moore, Ed Hicks, Sweat
Coleman and J. E. Knox (Tr., p. 45). Ed Hicks sent
out some men after the follows that didn’t belong to the
union to capture them and put them—they captured me,
I mean these negroes, and carried me over and put me in

Ed Hicks’ squad at Paul Hall’s house and I stayed there
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about an hour before I got away. Hicks was pointing
the way for us men to go to watch for the white people.
He said they was going to kill the white people when
they got down there and he told us negroes to do that
and I went down in the slough with them and when we
got down in the slough I laid my weapon down and says
“I will be batk @irectly,” I says you wateh until I come
back and T went on: down in the slough and got in the
field, the way'they carried me; and I went on down to
Elaine and before I got to Elaine good the white people
was coming up there and so Mr. Stokes—I got away and
went to Elaine and got Mr. Stayton to bring me to his
house. Irank Moore made a speech and said he was
going to do the same thing he was telling his men, he was
going to kill all the white people that come down there
that evening. Sweat Coleman carried me right throngh
his yard. Paul was at his house. They carried me over
to Frank’s and then they celebrated me over at Paul's
house. Paul Hall hid a Winchester that morning and

said he was watching for the white folks (Tr., 47)
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Cross-EXAMINATION,
Just as soon as I got away from them I told Mr.

Stokes what was going on over there—that same day. I

told him who carried me over there. They made me

bet my gun too, a double-barrel shot gun. I had my
loads in my pocket. I was badly frightened. Mr. Hicks
and Mr. Moore were the boss-men (Tr., p. 48).

J. Graham Burke testified for the State:

I had a conversation with Sweat Coleman, J. E.
Knox, and Ed Hicks in the County Judge’s office in an
investigation that we were making. We sent for them,
they were in jail, and brought them out there. War-
rants had been issued for them. We just merely asked
them questions and they either denied or admitted (Tr.,
p. 49). No coercion was used in talking to these negroes
and no promises of reward. Their statements were vol-
untarily made. Sweat Coleman said he was a member of
the Union (Tr., p. 50). He said he went up to Frank

Moore's or Paul Hall’s house and they sat around there

s d diffaront anne af thom ocaneed aronnd there nmmtil 11

i




38
or 12 o’clock, when the shooting happened at Hoop Spur.
The gang organized and went towards Dr. Richard-
son’s place, and that when they got to the railroad track
Sweat told about these two shots being fired, and said
they split up there and went on each side of the rail-
road. Knox’s statement was practically the same as
Sweat’s. He admitted that he went up there with the
gang. Ed Hicks’ statement was about the same, that he
was in the gang that went towards Mr. McCoy’s house
and that after he got up there these shots were fired, that
he took a gang of negroes and went on one side of the
railroad—seems the crowd split there, part following
Frank Moore and some went with him (Tr., pp. 50-51).
The court instructed the jury correctly on the law
(Tr., pp. 51-54) as may be seen by reference to the cage
of Ed Hicks vs. State, 143 Ark., 158. Thereupon, the
jury retired and in due time returned a verdict of guilty
of murder in the first degree, to which exceptions were
properly taken (Tr., p 54). Motion for new trial was

presented in due time by counsel for the defendunts
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(Tr.,p. 55). The motion for new trial was overruled by
the trial court and the defendants, appellants here,
prayed an appeal from the judgment of the Phillips Cir-
cuit Court to the Supreme Court of Arkansas, which
appeal was granted and the defendants given sixty days
in which to prepare, tender and file their bill of excep-
tions. The bill of exceptions was prepared, signed and
filed within the time prescribed by law (Tr., p. 55). va
order showing the court to be open in due form and the
order receiving the verdict lawfully are found on page
58 of the transcript. The order of judgment and sen-
tence is found on pages 56 and 57 and is in regular, H..ﬁq.
ful form. The motion for new trial was in regular form,
set up all of the objections which could be made on be-
half of the defendants and their interests were properly
preserved (Tr., pp. 57-60). The order of the court over-
ruling the motion for new trial and granting an appeal
is found on page 63 and is regular. The record sets out
the opinion of the Supreme Court of the State of Ar-

kansas (Tr., p. 64) and the judgment of conviction af-

e i
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firmed (Tr., p. 67). The decision may be found in 143
Ark., 168, Hicks vs. State, and we assume that the court
does not wish te burden the members with a quotation of
this case.

Petition for re-hearing of the cause in the Supreme
Court of Arkansas was filed April 19th, 1920, in due
form and overruled (Tr., pp. 68-70).

Exhibit “E” is a letter written to the Governor ot

S b

Arkansas by G8HIn’ citizens of Helena, insisting that
the law should take its course (Tr., p. 71).

The opinion in the case of Frank Hicks is found on
pages 72 to 76 of the transcript but we do not set it out
for the ressons above stated.

Exhibit “G” are proclamations of the Governor fix-
ing dates of executien (Tr., pp. 75-76).

Exhibit “H” to the petition is a copy of a resolution
by Richard I. Kitchens Post No. 831 of the American
Legion at Helena expressing in it, as the opinion of the
Post, that executive clemency would do more harm in

the community and would breed lawlessness as well as
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disregard for constituted authority, inasmuch as appel-
lants had been convicted of murder in the first degree.
The resolution was a protest against the commutation
of any of the sentences, and a committee of four-was ap-
pointed to present the resolution to the Governor (Tr,
pp- 76-77).

Exhibit “I” was a similar resolution of the Rotary
Club of Helena, adopting a resolution similar to that
adopted by the Kitchens Post and ordering that a copy
of the resolution officially signed, be sent to the Kitch-
ens Post (Tr., p. 78).

Exhibit “J” was a resolution of the Helena Lions
Club adopting the resolution passed by the Legion Post
(Tr., pp. 78-79).

Exhibit “K” is the opinion of the Arkansas Supreme
Court delivered June 20, 1921, in the case of the State,
ex rel vs. Martineau, chancellor, in which a writ of pro-
hibition was issued gquashing writ of habeas corpus and
injunctive order issued by the Chancery Court (Tr., pp.

79-86). This decision may be found in 149 Ark., 237.
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For the reasons above stated, we do not set out the opin-
fon in full.

The petition for the writ of habeas corpus in the
United States District Court was supported by the affi-
davits of T. K. houm,w and H. F. Smiddy, being found
respectively on pages 86 and 91 of the transcript.

T. K. Jones stated in his affidavit that he knew the
appellants; that he was a special agent for the Missouri
Pacific Railroad; that he was at Helena, Arkansas, on
the night of September 30, 1919; that he had a request
from Mr. Dick Dazell about seven o’clock P. M. on that
day asking if Officers Smiddy and Adkins could go with
Charles Pratt to Elaine that Ewrn to arrest a man by the
name of Clem orwwmmm with misdemeanor, and I gave him
permission. Mr. Smiddy and Mr. Adkins were working
under witness; that Smiddy did not go but Adkins did,
leaving about nine o’clock; that about two o’clock in the’
night Dazell ’phoned witness that this man had gotten
into some trouble at Hoops Spur and asked if Mr. Smid-

dy and I could go with him and others to investigate,
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and we went, reaching Hoops Spur Church at three-
thirty or four o’clock in the morning. Found the dead
body of Adkins near the church ; left and returned about
sun-up; church house disarranged; shed on the north
side of the church had been shot into (Tr., pp. 86-87).
In the afternoon of the first of October, witness
heard some white men talking and making threats to kill
their negroes if they ever heard of their joining the Un-
ion, but does not know who these men were. I stood guard
near the Hoops Spur Commissary from eight o’clock in
the morning ’till twelve-thirty P. M. with orders to ar-
rest every negro who came by, but I saw none. We heard
that the negroes were going to attack the McCoy House
and we went down there and remained until three
o’clock, and no attack was made. While there Lieu-
tenant Taplin was brought in shot in the left side of the
face and neck with a load of buckshot, and he died. While
there I saw a bunch of negroes across the railroad going
East one-half mile South of the McCoy House, and dis-

appear in a corn field, but did not see any weapons.
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None of them stopped and shot. I saw Clinton Lee after
he was shot and saw the hole in the rear of the automo-
bile. The Hoaps Spur Church was burned down during
the day (Tr., p. 88)

From the information I gathered down there, the
trouble started because the white folks objected to the
negroes having a union (Tr., p. 88). I saw a great many
negroes whipped on the third floor of the County Jail to
compel them to give evidence. Smiddy conveyed a num-
ber of prisoners from the jail to be examined by the
Committee of Seven. The negroes were not whipped,
.but formaldehyde was put in their noses and they were
stripped naked and put into an electrie chair to further
frighten and torture them. I whipped probably two
dozen negroes myself. I either whipped or help whip
several of these petitioners, including IFrank Moore and
J. E. Knox. Not all of the prisoners were whipped. The
negroes were indieted without taking before the Grand

Jury the witnesses. Some person would go before the
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Grand Jury and would tell what such and such a person
would testify to (Tr., 89-90).

The feeling against the defendants was very bit-
ter and strong. The trial was brief. Shortly after the
negroes were placed in jail, a mob was formed, but the
presence of soldiers and the advice of level-headed citi-
zens prevented the purpose of the mob (Tr., p. 90).

The affidavit of H. F. Smiddy was to the same effect
as that of T. K. Jones (Tr., pp. 91-99). "

The cause was heard in the United States District
Court on September 26, 1921, upon demurrer filed by
the State of Arkansas, stating that the petition for writ
of habeas corpus did not allege facts sufficient to en-
title the petitioners to the relief asked and prayed that
the petition be dismissed, and for all other general and
proper relief. The cause was heard before the Honorable
John H. Cotteral of Oklahoma acting as United States
Distriet Judge by assignment in place of the Honorable
Jacob Trieber, h.cmm,.o of the Court. On September 27

Judge Cotteral reudered his decision sustaining the de-
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murrer and motion to dismiss (Tr., pp. 100-101). On
the same day prayer for appeal was made and granted
(Tr., p. 102), and the formalities necessary to perfecting
the appeal were duly complied with (Tr., pp. 103-105).

As stated @coé‘,m stipulation of counsel was filed,
agreeing that both the above entitled causes might be
submitted to the Supreme Court of the United States and
briefed together and consolidated and heard on record in
No. 595, the stipulation being filed November 14, 1921,
No. 595 of the October Term of 1921 being the case of
Frank Moore, Ed Hicks, J. E. Knox, Ed Coleman and
Paul Hall, Appellants, vs. E. H. Dempsey, keeper of the
Arkansas State Penitentiary, Appellee; and the cause

is here on appeal.
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BRIEF AND ARGUMENT.

The appellant, Frank Hicks, was indicted by the
Grand Jury of Phillips County, Arkansas, for murder
in the first degree, alleged to have been committed by
shooting one Clinton Lee, and his trial on said indictment
in the Phillips County Circuit Court resulted in his con-
viction of murder in the first degree. Appellants Frank
Moore, Ed. Hicks, J. E. Knox, Ed. Coleman and Paul
Hall, were jointly indicted by said Grand Jury for the
same crime and were tried together, and were all con-
victed of murder in the first degree in said Court. Sub-
sequent to their trials and conviction, they filed and pre-
sented to the trial court their motions for new trials,
which motions were overruled by the trial court, to
which action appellants duly objected and excepted.
Whereupon, they prayed and were granted appeals to the
Supreme Court of Arkansas, where the judgments of the
trial court were affirmed on the 29 day of March, 1920.

One of appellants’ assignment of errors in their mo-

tions for new trials was, that their trials occurred under
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such circumstances that they were convicted without
due process of law. In other words, they contended, on
appeal to the Supreme Court of Arkansas, that the trial
court was dominated by mob violence und “a committee
of seven” to such an extent that they did not get a fair
and impartial trial, and were convicted contrary to the
provisions of Section 1 of Article 14 of the Federal Con-
stitution. The facts, with reference to said assignment
of error in the motions for new trials, and urged in the
Supreme Court, were not developed during the course of
the trials in the lower court, but were brought into the
record by affidavits filed in support of the motions for
new trials. Mr. J. Smith of the Supreme Court of Ar-
kansas, in delivering the opinion of that court in said

cases, among other things, said;
“It is now insisted that because of the indict-
meunts developed at the trial and those recited in the
motion for new trials, and the excitement and feel-

ing growing out of them, no fair trial was had, or
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could have been had, and that the trial did not,
therefore, constitute due process of law.

It is admitted, however, that eminent counsel
was appointed to defend appellants, and no attempt
is made to show that a fair and impartial trial was
had, except as an inference from the facts stated
above, the insistence being that a fair trial was im-
possible under the circumstances stated.

We are unable, however, to say that this must
necessarily have been the case. The trials were had.
according to law, the jury was correctly chargetl as
to the law of the case, and the testimony is legally
sufficient to support the vedicts returned. We con
not, therefore, in the face of this affirmative show-
g, assume that the trial was an empty ceremony,
conducted for the purpose only of appeering to com-
ply with the requirements of the law, when they

were not in fuct being complied with.”

Hicks vs. State, 143 Ark., 158.
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After the Supreme Court of Arkansas had affirmed
tne judgments of the trial court, appellants filed their
motions for rehearing, which motions for rehearing were
overruled by the Supreme Court (Tr., p. 70).

On the 9th day of April, 1921, the Governor of Ar-
kansas, under the provisions of Section 3262 of Craw-
ford & Moses’ Digest of the Statutes of Arkansas, fixed
the date for the execution of appellants to be on the 10th
day of June, 1921« Tr., p. 75).

On the 8th day of June, 1921, appeliants filed their
petitious for a writ of habeas corpus in the Chauncery
Court of Pulaski County, Arkansas, seeking therein to
restrain and enjoin appellee herein from proceeding
under the proclamation of the Governor, as aforesaid,
from carrying into effect said proclamution (Tr, p. 79).
Said Chancery Court immediately ordered the issuance
of said writ returnable before the Court at two o'clock
P. M. on June 10, 1921. In the meantime, the Attorney
General of Arkansas filed his petition for a writ of pro-

hibition restraining said Chancellor from further pro-
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ceeding on appellants’ petitions for writs of habeas
corpus. The Attorney General’s petition for writ of pro-
hibition was granted by the Supreme Court of Arkansas
on June 20, 1921. State vs. Martineau, 149 Ark., 237.
Thereafter, on the 4th day of August, 1921, appellants
made application to the Honorable Oliver Wendell
Holmes, Associate Justice of the Supreme Court of the
United States for a writ of error, to the Supreme Court
of the State of Arkansas, in the matter of said writ, of
prohibition, but same was denied (Tr., p. 9). The Gov-
ernor of Arkansas, in pursuance of the authority of Sec-
tion 3262 of Crawford & Moses’ Digest of the Statutes
of Arkansas, again set the date of appellants’ execution
for the 23rd day of September, 1922, but before said date
appellants filed their petitions for writs of habeas corpus
in the United States District Court for the Western Di-
vision of the Eastern District of Arkansas, on the 21st
day of September, 1921 (Tr., p. 10).

The motions for new trials filed in the trial court,

supported by certain exhibits, the petition for habeas
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corpus before the Pulaski Chancery Court and the peti-
tions for habeas corpus filed by appellants in the United
States District Court for the Western Division of the
Eastern District’of Arkansas, are substantially the same.
The petitions for writs of habeas corpus now before this
court, are merely a repetition of the allegations con-
tained in mctions for new trials, filed in the trial court,
with reference to the excitement prevailing at and before
the trials in the Circuit Court and the alleged domina-
tion of mob violemee. . Said petitions now before this
Court are also merely a repetition of the petitions filed
in the Pulaski County Chancery Court, and reviewed by
the Supreme Court of Arkansas on the State’s petition
for a writ of prohibition. All of said petitions contained

allegations that the appellants, being nergoes, were de-

nied the right and privilege guaranteed by the Consti-
tution of the United States by the exclusion of their
race from the Grand Jury and from the trial jury in
Phillips County. The motions for new trials and the

various petitions filed by appellants recite copies of cer-
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tain publications in newspapers and resolutions: passed
by civil and fraternal organizations prior to the trials
and subsequent thereto, alleged to be calculated to
arouse the white people of Phillips County to a high
pitch of excitement. Said petitions give what purports
to be a history of the events leading up to the killing of
Clinton Lee, and declare the innocence of appellants of
the crime charged in the indictments. Said petitions al-
lege that the witnesses testifying in behalf of the State
of Arkansas were tortured msﬂo‘mmium false testimony,
which said witnesses had retractetd since the trialsin
the lower court.

Said petitions allege that prior to the indictments
there had been an investigation by a committee of white
citizens of Phillips County, Arkansas, for the purpose of
ascertaining who were the guilty parties in the homicide,
which had oecurred, and that “the entire trial, verdict
and judgment against them was but an empty ceremony;
that their real trial and condemnation had already taken

place before ‘said Committee of Seven’; that said com-
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mittee, in advance of the sitting of the court, had set in
judgment upon their and all other cases and assumed
and exercised the jurisdiction of the court by determin-
ing the guilt or innocence of those in jail, had acquired
the evidence in the manner herein set out, and decided
which of the defendants should be electrocuted and
which sent to vam.oP and the terms to be given them,
and which to be discharged; that when court convened,
the program laid out by said committee was carried
through, and thegverdict against petitioners was .?.o-
nounced not as the independent verdiet of an unbiased
jury, but as part of the prearranged scheme and judg-
ment of said committee, that in doing this, the court
did not exercise the jurisdiction given it by law and
wholly lost its jurisdiction by substituting for its judy-
ment the judgment of condemnation of suid committee.”
(Tr, pp. 6-7). See also State vs. Martineau, 149 Ark.,
243-244.

It will be observed from the recitals, and prayer for

relief, of appellants’ petitions for writs of habeas corpus,
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that the only issue that is before this court for its consid-
eration is, does the record herein show on its face that
the trial court was under the influence of mob domina-
tion during the course of the trial of these causes to such
an extent that the effect thereof wrought a disillusion of
the court, so that the procedings therein were coram non
judice.

The petitions for writs of error were filed by appel-
lants in the United States District Court for the West-
ern Division of the Eastern District of Arkansas, EES.
the provisions of Section 753, Rev. Stat. Comp. Stat.
1913, Sec. 1281. Under the provisions of said section,
before appellants would be entitled to the relief sought,
it must appear that they are held by the appellee, E. H.
Dempsey, Keeper of the Arkansas State Penitentiary, in
violation of the Constitution of the United States.
Rogers vs. Peck, 199 U. 8., 425, 434.

Inasmuch as appellants are held in custody of ap-
pellee by reason of their conviction upon criminal

charges, before a court having the power and authority
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to hear and determine the same, it results from the very
nature of the writs themselves that they cannot have re-
lief on habeas corpus mere errors in point of law, how-
ever serious, committed by a eriminal eourt in the exer-
cise of ity jurisdiction ever a case properly subject to its
cognizance, cannot be reviewed by habeas corpus. A
writ of habeas corpus cannot be invoked as a substitute
for the writ of error.
Ex Parte Parks, 93 U. 8. 18, 21;
Ex Parte Siebold, 100 U. 8. 371, 375;
Ex Parte W.owm:w 117 U. 8. 241;
Re Frederich, 149 U. 8. 70, 75;
Baker vs. Grice, 169 U. 8. 284, 290;
Tinsley vs. Anderson, 171 U. S. 101, 105;
Markuson vs: Boucher, 175 U. S. 184;
Frank vs. Mangrum, 237 U. S. 309.
It is a well established principle of law that the due
process-of luw that is required by Section 1 of Article 14
of the Constitution of the United States, that a criminal

prosecution in the Courts of a State, based upon a law
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oot in itself repugnant to the Federal Constitution, and
conducted according to the settled course of judieial
proceedings as established by the law of the State; so
long as it includes notice and a hearing, or an opportuni-
ty to be heard, before a court of competent jurisdiction,
according to established modea of procedure, is due pro-
cess 0f l1aw in the sense that term is used in our Federal
Constitution.

Walker vs. Sanvinet, 92 U. 8. 90, 98;

Hurtado vs. Californig, 110 U. 8. 518, 535;

Andrews vs. Bwartz, 156 U. 8. 272, 276;

Bergemann vs. Backer, 157 U. 8. 655, 659 ;

Rogers vs. Peck, 199 U. 8. 425, 434,

U. 8. Ex Rel Drury vs. Lewig, 200 U. 8. 17;

Felts vs. Murphy, 201 U. 8. 123, 129;

Howard vs. Kentucky, 200 U. 8. 164;

Frank vs. Mangrum, 237 U. 8. 309.

In view of the well established principles of law, as

announced by this Court in the foregoing authorities,

we shall confine our discussion to the question of
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whether or not the law and procedure followed by the
prosecution in the cases herein through the various
State Courts, were conducted according to the settled
course of judicial proceedings as established by the laws
of the State of Arkansas.

From an examination of the record herein, it will
be observed first, that the Circuit Court of Phillips
County, Arkansas, in which the trials were had, original-
ly, was duly o@@%&,,&um constituted, and that the Grand
Jury which returned the indictments was duly sum-
moned, sworn, empaneled and charged in keeping with
the laws of the State of Arkansas (Tr., p. 23).

Second. The indictments were lawfully returned
in keeping with the provisions of the Statute of the State
(Tr., p. 26).

Third. The indictments herein were sufficient in
every particular, complying with the Statute in such
cases made and provided (Tr., p 26).

Fourth. The court, at the time of trial, was duly

constituted. Appellants were duly arraigned and the

59

jurors were duly sworn touching their qualifications. to
serve as jurors, accepted by appellants and sworn and
empaneled to try said cases (Tr., pp. 56, m.q ).

Fifth. The evidence of both the State and the ac-
cused was heard, the jury was instructed according to
law, after which it retired to consider its verdict; sub-
sequently thereto returning into court a verdict finding
appellants guilty of murder in the first degree (Tr.,p.
—)

Sixth., After their trials and conviction as afore-
said, appellants filed their motions for new trials (Tr.,
pp. 57-60).

Seventh. The said motions for new trials were duly
heard by the trial court and overruled (Tr., p. 63).

Eighth. Within the time allowed by law, and with-
in the time fixed by the trial court, appellants duly filed
their bills of exceptions, which were by the court apt

proved and ordered filed as a part of the record (Tr.,

p. 55).
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Ninth. Appeals from the action of the Circuit
Court of Phillips County, convicting the accused, were
granted January 9, 1920, and the records of said trials
duly filed in the Supreme Court of the State of Arkan-
sas, on m anuary 9, 1920,

Tenth. The causes were consolidated and heard by
the Suprenie-Court of the State of Arkansas on said ap-
appeals, and the judgment of the trial court affirmed on
March 29, 1920. See 143 Ark., 158-164.

Eleventh, Appellants’ motion for rehearing was
duly filed in the Supreme Court of the State of Arkan-
sas, and subsequent thereto said motion was overruled
by said court.

It will be observed from the foregoing recitals of
the record herein, which, for the purpose of the demur-
rer, is conceded to be true, that appellants were charged
with violating the law of murder and that such law is
not repuguant to the Federal Constitution; that the pro-
secution of appellants by the State of Arkansas was con-

ducted according to the well established course of judi-

]
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eia] proceedings as established by the laws of said State;

that appellants werg present in person and by gounsel
at all stages of said proceedings; that the trials were
had in aceord with competent jurisdiction, according to
the well ¢stahlished modes of procedure. Therefare, ap-
pellants were not denied the equal protection undep the
law, nor gre they entitled to the relief songht under Sec-
tion One of Article 14 of the Constitution of the United
States.

It is well established by the decisions ef this ceurt
that the office of a writ of habeas corpus eannot be em-
ployed to review irregularities or alleged errgneous rul-
ings made during the trial, however serious; it can only
be invoked in cases where the judgments under whieh
the persous are detained show to be abselntely woid for
want of jurisdiction in the courts that pronounced them,
either because such jurisdiction was absent at the begin-
ning, or because it was lost during the eourse of the pro-

ceedings.
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The laws of the State of Arkansas provide for an
appeal in criminal cases to the Supreme Court of that
State upon divers grounds, including such as those upon
which it is here asserted that the trial court was lack-
ing in jurisdiction. Section 2129, Crawford & Moses’
Digest of the Statutes of Arkansas. While Section 1 of
Article 14 of the Constitution of the United States does
not require that a State shall provide for an appellate
review in criminal cases, it is clearly obvious that when
such an appeal Mm m.:..o&mmm for, and the prisoner has had
the benefit of #v. ,»m in the cases at bar, the proceedings
in the appellate tribunal are to be regarded by this
Court as part of the process of law under which said
prisoner is held in custody by the State, and to be con-
sidered in determining any question of alleged depriva-
tion of his life or liberty contrary to Section 1 of Article

14 of the Constitution of the United States.
McKane vs. Durston, 153 U. 8., 684, 687;

Andrews vs. Swartz, 156 U. S., 272;

Rogers vs. Peck, 199 U. S., 425 435;
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Reetz vs. Michigan, 188 U. 8., 505, 508;

Franks vs. Mangrum, 237 U. 8., 309.

This Court, in discussing the “due process clause”
of the 14th Amendment to the Federal Constitution,
said, in the case of Frank vs. Mangrum, supra: .

“In fact, such questions as are here presented
under the due process clause of the 14th Amend-
ment, though sometimes discussed as if involving
merely the jurisdiction of some court or other
tribunal, in a larger and more accurate sense in-
volve the power and authority of the state itself.
The prohibition is addressed to the state; if it be
violated, it makes no difference in a Court of the
United States by what agency of the state this is
done; so, if a violation be threatened by one agency
of the state, but prevented by another agency of
higher authority, there is no violation by the state.
It is for the state to deterinine what courts or other
tribunals shall be established for the trial of of-

fenses against its criminal laws, and to define their
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several jurisdictions and authority as between them-
selves, And the question whether a state is depriv-
ing a prisoner of his liberty without due process of
law, where nb,m offense for which he is prosecuted
is based upon a law that does no violence to the
Federal Constitution, cannot ordinarily be deter-
mined, with fairness to the state, until the conclu-
sion of the course of justice in its courts.”

Virginia vs. Rives, 100 U. S,, 313, 318;

Civil Rights Cases, 109 U. S, 3, 11.

McKane vs. Durston, 153 U. S, 684, 687;

Dreyer vs. Illinois, 187 U. 8., 71, 83, 84;

Reetz vs. Michigan, 188 U. S., 505, 507;
Carfer vs. Caldwell, 200 U. 8., 293, 297;
Waters Pierce Oil Co. vs. Texas, 212 U. S,, 86,

107;
Re Frederich, 149 U. 8., 70, 75;
Whitten vs. Tomlinson, 160 U. 8., 231, 242;
Baker vs. Grice, 169 U. 8., 284, 291;

Minnesota vs. Brundage, 180 U. S., 499, 503;
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Urqubart vs. Brown, 208 U. 8, 179, 182.

This court, in numereus decisions, has beld, that
where it is made to appear to a Federal Court that an
applicant for a writ of habeas corpus is im custody of a
State officer, in the ordinary course of a criminal prose-
cution, as appellants are in the case at bar, under a law
of the State net in itself repugnant to the Federal Con-
stitution, the wri of habeas eorpus, in the absence of
very special circumstances, ought to be issued wntil’ the
State prosecution has reached its coneluwsion, end mot
even then until the Federal questions arsing wpon the
record have been brought before this court wpon @ writ
of error.

Ex Parte Royall, 117 U. 8., 242 ;

Re Frederich, 149 U. S, 70;

Whitten vs. Tomlinson, 166 U. 8., 231, 242;
Baker vs. Grice, 169 U. &, 284 291;
Tinsley vs. Anderson, 171 U. S, 101, 105;
Markuson vs. Boucher, 175 U. 8., 184;

Urquhart vs. Brown, 205 U. 8., 179;
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Frank vs. Mangrum, supra.

The same idential question that is now before this
court in this nmmmvlnz.&a of whether or not appellants
were deprived of their liberty in the trial court, without
due process of law, contrary to the provisions of Section
1 of Article 14 of the Federal Constitution, was before
the State Supreme Court on two different occasions.
The first time, in an assignment of error in the motion
for a mew trial in the case of Hicks vs. State, 143 Ark.,
158; the second time in the case of State vs. Martineau,
149 Ark., 237. In the case of Hicks vs. State, supra, the
State Supreme Court said:

“It is now insisted that because of the inci-
dents developed at the trial and those recited in the
motion for new trials, and the excitement and feel-
ing growing out of them, no fair trial was had, or
could have been had, and that the trial did not,
therefore, constitute due process of law.

It is admitted, however, that eminen. counsel

was appointed to defend appellants, and no attempt
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is made to show gwa a fair and impartial trial was

not had, except as an inference from the facts stated

above, the insistence being that a fair trial was im-

possible under the circumstances stated.

We are unable, however, to say that this must
necessarily have been the case. The trials were had
according to law, the jury was correctly charged as.
to the law of the case, and the testimony is legally
sufficient to support the verdicts returned. We can-
not, therefore, in the face of this affirmative show-
ing, assume that the triel was an empty ceremony,
conducted for the purpose only of appearing to com-
ply with the requirements of the law, when they
were not in fact being complied with.”

In the omm.m of State vs. Martineau, supra, the second
time the question of whether or not appellants were
deprived of their property without due process of law,
the Supreme Court of Arkansas, speaking through its

Chief Justice, said:

~
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“Counsel for the respondents rely on the case
of Frank vs: Mangrum, 237 U. ., 309, as sustaining
this contention, but an analysis of that decision
and a consideration of the language employed by
the learned justiee who wrote it shows very clearly
that sueb i not the effect of that decision. The
eourt distinetly recognized the well established rule
at commom law amd under the British statutes, that
on habeas eorpus & court was eonfined in its inquiry
to the face of the process of the judgment under
whick the prisoner was held in custody. The case
of Ex Parte Watkins, 3 Peters 193, was cited where
Chief Justice Marshall, in delivering the opinion of
the court, followed the common-law rule stated
above and decided that a court could not, under
habeas e¢orpus, look beyond the face of the judg-
ment of & cewrt of competent jurisdiction to de-
termine whether or not a prisoner was being unlaw-
fully held. This is in accordance with repeated

decisions of our own court holding that, if a peti-
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tiomer for habeas corpus ‘is in custedy under pro-
cess regular on its face, nothing will be inquired
imto save the jurisdiction of the court whence the
process came.”’ State vs. Neel, 48 Ark, 283; Ex
Parte Barnett, 51 Ark., 215; Ex Parte Perdue, m.m
Ark., 285; Ex Parte Foote, 70 Ark., 12; Ex Parte
Byles, 93 .Ark., 612; Ex Parte Williams, Aww_ Ark,,
475.
But the Supreme Court of the United States in
the Frank case, suprg, held that Congress had, 3&,
the act of February 5, 1867 (Revised Statutes, Par.
753 et seq.), conferred upon the Federal courts ex-
press authority to inquire beyond the face of the
process or judgment under which a prisoner is be-
ing and had ‘extended the writ of habeas corpus to
all cases of persons restrained of their liberty in
violation of Constitution or law or treaty of the
United States.” Further speaking on this subject,
the court said: ‘The effect (Acts 1867) is to substi-

tute for the bare legal review that seems to have
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been the limit of judicial authority under the com-
mon law practice, and under the act of 31 Car. 11,
¢. 2, a more searching investigation, in which the
appellant is put upon his oath to set forth the truth
of the matter amw@,oozdm the causes of his detention,
and the court, upon determining the actual facts, is
to ‘dispose of the party as law and justice require.’
The statute referred to does not apply to any
courts except the Supreme Court and circuit and
district courts of the United States, and it defines
the practice in those courts and the powers of the
courts under the remedy afforded by the writ of
habeas corpus. The statute does not purport to ap-
ply to the courts of the States and Congress had no
authority, had it attempted so to do, to prescribe
the powers of the State courts and the practice to
be followed in matters within their jurisdictions.
The court in the Frank case in effect held that the
statute had no application to the state courts, for

it said this: ‘But repeated decisions of this court
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have put it beyond the range of further debate that
the ‘due process’ clause of the Fourteenth bsSS&
ment has not the effect of imposing upon the states
any particular form or mode of procedure, so long
as the essential rights of motice and a hearing, or
opportunity to be heard, before a competent tribu-
nal are not interfered with.””

The Supreme Court of Arkansas further discussing
the doctrine as announced by this ooﬁ.n,g the case of
Frank vs. Mangrum, supra, said:

“Further discussion would seem to be useless.

It was not contended in the argument here that

there is any other charge in the motion upon which

relief could be granted, except the one to the effect
that the trial court was dominated by a mob, which
suspended the functions of the court and prevented
« fair trial. There are no other facts in the petition
which would warrant a review of the judgment of
the Circuit Court of Phillips County. The allega-

tions with regard to newly discovered evidence and
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the retraction by the State’s witnesses, which is,
in effect an allegation of the discovery of new evi-
dence, affords no ground for a review of the judg-
ments.of conviction, for there is no provision in the
laws of this State for the granting of a new trial
after the lapse of the term on the ground of newly
discovered evidence. Howard vs. State, 58 Ark.,

229 ; Thomas vs. State, 186 Ark., 290; Satterwhite

vs. Btate, ante'p. 147.”

Appellants’ petitiohs herein show, that, after the
Supreme ,QoE.W of Arkansas had, on twe different oc-
casions decided, without a dissent, that appellants had
received fair and impartial trials in the trial court,—
were not deprived of their liberty without due process
of law, they attempted to have this court review the judg-
ments of the State Supreme Court by making applica-
tion to. Mr. Justice Holmes of this Court for a writ of
error, which application was denied (Tr., p. 9).

Appellants are merely attempting to use a writ of

habeas corpus to review alleged errors of law of the
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State Courts, when a review thereof can only be had in
this Court-on a writ of error.

“Mere errors in point of law, however serious,
committed by a criminal court in the exercise of its
jurisdiction over a case properly subject to its cog-
nizance, cannot be reviewed by habeas corpus. That
writ cannot be employed as a substitute for the writ
of error.”

Frank vs. Mangrum, 237 U. 8. 309, and .ommmm

therein cited. \,
This Court, in the case of Frank vs. Mangrum,
supra, in discussing the authority of Federal Courts to
interfere with the State Courts in administering the
laws of the State, where same have been violated, said:

“It follows as a logical consequence that where
as here, a criminal prosecution has proceeded
through all the courts of the state, including the
appellate as well as the trial court, the result of the
appellate review cannot be ignored when after-

rards the prisoner applies for his release on the
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ground of deprivation of Federal rights sufficient
to oust the state of its jurisdiction to proceed to
judgment and execation against him. This is not
a mere matter of comity, as seems to be supposed.
The rule stands s@,ou a much higher plane, for it
arises out of the very nature and ground of the in-
quiry into the proceedings of the state tribunals,
and touches closely upon the relations between the
state and the Federal governments. As was declared
by this court in Ex Parte Royall, 117 U. 8., 241,
252, applying in a habeas corpus case what was sai
in Covell vs. Heyman, 111 U. 8, 176, 182, a case of
conflict of jurisdiction: “The forbearance which
courts of co-ordinate jurisdiction, administered
under 4 single system, exercise towards cach other,
whereby conflicts are avoided by avoiding interfer-
ence with the process of each other, is a principle of
comity which perhaps no higher sanction than the
utility which comes from concord; but between

state courts and those of the United States, it is
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something more. It is @ principle of right and of

law, and therefore of necessity.” And see Re Tyler,

149 U. 8, 164, 186.”

The case of Frank vs. Mangrum, supre, is almost ex-
actly in point with the case at bar. Frank was indicted by
the Grand Jury of Fulton County, Ga., for murder. He
was tried on said indictment and found guilty. The
trial court rendered judgment, sentencing him to death.
On the same day Frank’s counsel filed a motion for a
new trial, which was subsequently amended so as to in-
clude one hundred and three different grounds particu-
larly specified. Among these grounds tvere several rais-
ing the contention that he did not have a fair and im-
partial trial because of alleged disorder in and about
the court room, including manifestations of public senti-
ment hostile to him and sufficient to influence the jury.
In support of one of these, and to show the state of senti-
ment as manifested, the motion stated “The defendant
was not in the court room when the verdict was ren-

dered his presence having been waived by his counsel.

Lok




76

This waiver was accepted and acquiesced in by the court,
because of the fear of violence that might be done the
defendant were he in court when the verdict was ren-
dered.” Numerous affidavits were submitted by Frank
in support of his motion, including eighteen that related
to the allegations of disorder in and around the court
room occurring at the trial. The trial court denied ap-
pellant’s motion for new trial. The cause was then ap-
pealed to the Supreme Court of that State where the al-
legations i @uw%ﬁm«ﬁoﬁo= for a new trial, were con-
sidered. The Supreme Court affirmed the judgment of
the trial court. After the decision of the Supreme
Court, affirming the judgment of the trial court, another
motion for a new trial was made under Code 1910, Sec-
tions 6089, 6092, upon the grounds of newly discovered
evidence; and this having been refused, the case was
again brought before the Supreme Court, and again the
action of the trial court was affirmed. Shortly there-
after Frank unsuccessfully applied to thie Supreme

Court of Georgia for the allowance of a writ of error to

R o e ey
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review its judgment in the SBupreme Court of the United
States. Thereafter, he applied to several of the Justices
of this court, and finally to the Court itself, for the al-
lowance of such a writ. These applications were sever-
ally denied. Whereupon, he made application for a writ
of error to the FFederal District Court for a writ of
habeas corpus. The Federal District Court demied his
application and he appealed to this court.

The case at bar followed the same course, step by
step, through the various State and Federal Courts, that
the Frank case followed ; First, the trial court, twice be-
fore the State Supreme Court, application made and de-
nied Ly an-associate justice of this court, an application
in- the Federal District Court for a writ of habeas
corpus, the writ denied, and an ﬁ%m& taken to this
Court. Inasmuch as the two cases are so near alike, we
further quote from the Frank case as follows:

“And first, the question of the disorder and

hostile sentiment that are said to have influenced
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the trial court and jury to an extent amounting
to mob domination.

The district court having considered the case
upon the face of the petition, we must do the same,
treating it as if m.oBE.wmm to by the sheriff. Therc
is no doubt of the jurisdiction to issue the writ of
habeas corpus. The question is as to the propriety
of issuing it in the present case. Under Sec. 755,
Rev. Stat. Comp. Stat. 1919, 1283, it was the duty
of the court to refuse the writ if it appeared from
the petition itself that appellant was not entitled
to it. And see Ex Parte Watkins, 3 Pet. 193, 201;
Ex Parte Milligan, 4 Wall. 2, 110; Ex Parte Terry,
128 U. 8., 289, 301.

Now the obligations resting upon us, as upon
the district court, to look through the form and into
the very heart and substance of the matter, applies
as well to the averments of the petition as to the
proceedings which the petitioner attacks. We must

regard not any single clause or paragraph, but the
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entire petition, and the exhibits that are made a
part of it. Thus, the petition contains a narrative
of disorder, hostile manifestations, and wuproar,
which, if it stood alone, and were to be taken as
true, may be conceded to show an environment in-
consistent with a fair trial and an impartial ver-
dict. But to consider this as standing alone is to
take a wholly superficial view. The narrative has
no proper place in a petition addressed to a court
of the United States except as it may tehd to 3.3\8,
light upon the question whether the State of
Georgia, having regard to the entire course of the
proceedings, in the appellate as well as in the trial
court, is'depriving appellant of his liberty and in-
tending to deprive him of his life wthout due pro-
cess of law. Dealing with the narrative, then, its
essence, and in its relation to the context, it clearly
appears to be only a reiterution of allegations that
appellunt had e right to submit, and did submit,

first to the trial court, and afterwards to the Su-

A K
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preme Court of the state, as a ground for avoiding
the consequences of the trial; that the allegations
were considered by those courts, successively, at
times and places and under circumstances wholly
apart from the a,gecm%@mﬁm of the trial, and free
from any suggestion of mob domination, or the like;
and that the facts were examined by those courts
not only upon the affidavits and exhibits submitted
in behalf of the prisener which are embodied in his
present petition as a part of his sworn account of
the causes of his detention, but also upon rebutting
m.mmpmiﬁw. submitted in behalf of the state, and
which, for reasons not explained, he has not in-
cluded in the petition. As appears from the pre-
fatory statement, the allegations of disorder were
found by both of the state courts to be groundless
except in a few particulars as to which the courts
ruled that they were irregularities not harmful in
fact to defendant, and therefore insufficient in law

to avoid the verdict. 141 Ga., 243-280. And it

&1
was because the defendant was concluded by that
finding that the Supreme Court, upon the subse-
quent motion to set aside the verdict, declined to
again consider those allegations.

Whatever nmmm_:oc is raised about the juris-
diction of the trial court, no doubt is suggested but
that the Supreme Court had full jurisdiction to
determine the matters of fact and the questions of
law arising out of this alleged disorder; ner is there
any reason to suppose that it did not fairly and
justly perform its duty. It is not easy to see why
appellant is not, upon general principles, bound
by its decision. It is a fundamental principle of
jurisprudence, arising from the very nature of
courts of justice and the objects for which they are
established, that a question of fact or of law dis-
tinctly put in issue and directly determined by a
court of competent jurisdiction cannot afterwards
be disputed between the same parties. Southern

P. R Co. vs. United States, 168 U. 8., 1, 48. The
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principle is as applicable to the decisions of crimi-
nal courts as to those of civil jurisdiction. As to its
application, in habeas corpus cases, with respect to
decisions by such courts of the facts pertaining to
the jurisdiction over the prisoner, see Ex Parte Ter-
ry, 128 U. 8., 289, 305, 310; Ex Parte Columbia
George, 144 Fed., 985, 986.

However, it is not necessary, for the purpose
of the present case, to invoke the doctrine of res
judicata; and, in view of the impropriety of limit-
ing in the least degree the authority of the courts
of the United States in investigating an alleged
violation by a State of the due process of law guar-
anteed by the 14th Amendment, we put out of view
for the present the suggestion that even the ques-
tions of fact bearing upon the jurisdiction of the
trial court could be conclusively determined against
the prisoner by the decision of the state court of

last resort.
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But this does not mean that that decision may
be ignored or disregarded. To do this, as we have
already pointed out, would be not merely to des-
regard comity, but to ignore the mmwmbam_ question
before us, which is not the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner, or the truth of any particular act asserted
by him, but whether the state, taking into view the
entire course of its procedure, has deprived him of
due process of law. This familiar phase does not
mean that the operations of the state government
shall be conducted without error or fault in any
particular case, nor that the Federal courts may
substitute their judgment for that of the state
courts, or exercise any general review over their
proceedings, but only that the fundamental rights
of the prisoner shall not be taken from him arbi-
trarily or without the right to be heard according
to the usual course of law in such cases.

We, of course, agree that if a trial is in fact

dominated by a mob, so that the jury is intimidated
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and the trial judge yields, and so that there is an
actual interference with the course of justice, there
is, in that court, a departure from due process of
law in the proper sense of that term. And if the
state, supplying no corrective process, carries into
execution a judgment of death or imprisonment
based upon a verdict thus produced by mob domina-
tion, the state deprives the accused of his life or lib-
erty without due process of law.

But the state may supply such corrcctive pro-
cess as to it seems proper. (eorgia has adopted the
fumiliar procedure of a motion for a new trail, fol-
lowed by an appeal to its supreme court, not con-
fined to the mere record of conviction, but going
at large, and upon evidence adduced outside of thut
record, into the question whether the processcs of
justice have been interfered with in the trial court.
Repeated instances are reported of verdicts and
fudgments set aside and new trials granted for dis-

order or mob wviolence interfering with the prison-

er’s right to a fair trial. Myers vs, Btate, 97 Ga,,
76 (5) 99, 25 8. E. 252; Collier vs. State, 115 Ga.,
803, 42 8. E. 226, 12 Am, Crim. Re. 608.

Such an appeal was accorded to the prisoner in
the present case. (Frank vs. State, 141 Ga., 243,
280, 80 8. E. 1016) in a manner and undet circum-
stances already stated, and the supreme court, upon
a full review, decided appellant’s allegations of
fact, so far as matters now material are concerned,
to be unfounded. Owing to considerations aiready
adverted to (ariging not eut of comity merely, but
out of the very right of the matter to be decided, in
view of the relations existing between the states and
the Federal government), we hold that such a de-
termination of the facts #s was thus made by the
court of last resort of (Georgia respecting the al-
leged interference with the trial through disorder
and manifestations of hostile sentiment cannot, in
this collateral inquiry, be treated as a nullity, but

must be taken as setting forth the truth of the mat-
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ter;certainly until some reasonable ground 1s shown
for an inference that the court which rendered it
either was wanting in jurisdiction, or at least erred
in the exercise of its jurisdiction; and that the mere
assertion by the prisoner that the facts of the matter
are other than the state court, upon full investiga-
tion, determined them to be, will not be deemed suf-
ficient to raise an issue respecting the correctness of
that determination; especially not, where the very
evidence upon which the determination was rested
is withheld by him who attacks the finding.

It is E.mmmm ?&U if in fact there was disorder
such as to cause a loss of jurisdiction in the trial
court, jurisdiction could not be restored by any de-
cision of the supreme court. This, we think, em-
bodies more than one error of reasoning 1t regards
a part only of the judicial proceedings, instead of
considering the entire process of luw. It also begs
the question of the existence of such disorder as to

cause a loss of jurisdiction in the trial court, which
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should not be assumed, in the face of the decision of
the reviewing court without showing some adequate
ground for disregarding that decision. And these er-
rors grow out of the initial error of treating appel-
lant’s narrative of disorder as the whole matter in-
stead of reading it in connection with the context.
The rule of law that in ordinary cases requires a
prisoner to exhaust his remedies within the state
before coming to the courts of the United States
for redress would lose the greater part of its salu-
tary force if the prisoner’s mere allegations ﬂm.mo to
stand the same in law after as before the state
courts had passed upon them.

We are very far from intimating that manifes-
tations of public sentiment, or any other form of
disorder, calculated to influence court or jury, are
matters to be lightly treated. The decisions of the
Georgia courts in this and other cases show that
such disorder is repressed, where practicable, by the

direct intervention of the trial court and the officers
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that prevailg in all of the states, so far as we are
aware. The cases cited do not sustain the conten-
tion that disorder or other lawless conduct calcu-
lated to overawe the jury or the trial judge can be
treated as a dissolution of the court, or as render-
ing the proceedings coram non judice, in any such
sense as to bar further proceedings. In Myers vs.
State, 97 Ga., 76, (5) 99, 25 S. E. 252, Collier vs.
State, 115 Ga., 803, 42 8. E. 226, 12 Am. Crim. me.
608 ; Sanders vs. State, 85 Ind. 318, 44 Am. Rep. 29;
Massey vs. State, 31 Tex. Crim. Rep. 371, 381, 20 8.
W. 758; and State vs. Weldon, 91 8. C. 29, 38,39 L.
R. A (N. S.) 667, 669, 74 S. E. 43; Ann. Cas.
1918 E, 801, in all of which it was held that the pris-
oner’s right to a fair trial had been interfered with
by disorder or mob violence,—it was not held that
jurisdiction over the prisoner had been lost; on the
contrary, in each instance a new trial was awarded
as the appropriate remedy. 8o, in the cases where

the trial judge abdicated his proper functions or
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absented himself during the trial (Hayes vs. State,
58 Ga., 36 (2) 49; Blend vs. People, 41 N. Y., 604;
Shaw vs. People, 3 Hun., 272, affirmed in 63 N, Y.,
36; Hinman vs. People, 13 Hun., 266; McClure vs.
State. 77 Ind., 287; O’Brien vs. People, 17 Colo.,
561, 31 Pac. 230; Ellerbe vs. State, 75 Miss., 522,
41 L. R. A. 569, p2 So. 950) the reviewing court of
the state in each instance simply set aside the ver-
dict and awarded a new trial.

The Awnwnmmm courts, in the present case, pro-
ceeded upon the theory that Frank would have
been mnﬁﬁmg to this relief had his charges been
true, and they refused a new trial only because they
found his charges untrue save in a few minor par-
ticulars not amounting to more than irregularities,
and not prejudicial to the aceused. There was here
no denial of due process of law.”

It will be observed that the only evidence substan-
tiating appellants’ petitions, is, the affidavit of appel-

lauts themselves (Tr., p. 10), the statement of Mr. Allen
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in the public press, and the supporting affidavits of Wal-
ter Ward (Tr., pp. 15 and 16), George Green (Tr., pp.
16 and 17), and John Jefferson (Tr., pp. 18 and 19). We
presume that the statement by Mr Allen, in the public
press, was made shortly after the murder was committed,
and for which appellants were convicted in the State
Courts. The affidavits of Ward, Green and Jefferson,
were made in May, 1921, long after the cases had been
Leard and determined in the State Courts. The S.E of
appellants occurred in the lower court at the October
Term 1919 of the Phillips County Circuit Court; and the
cases were affirmed on appeal by the State Supreme
Court on the 29th day of March, 1920. See Hicks vs.
State, 143 Ark., 158. Such affidavits were made more
than a year after the cases had been affirmed by the ap-
pellate court. These affidavits were never before the
trial court, nor the Supreme Court on appal. To sus-
tain appellants’ application for a writ of habeas corpus
an said affidavits, would open an avenue for every per-

son charged with a crime, to wait until he had exhausted
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his remnedies in the State Courts; then open his masked
batteries on the State Courts, by going to the Federal
Courts by petition for habeas corpus, and support said
petitions by abdavits made long after the case had been
determined in the State Courts. We can hardly think
that this court, ar any cther court, would give its sanc-
tion to such practice, By filing affidavits in support of
the petition, as appellants did in the case at bar, the
State iy deprived of cross examining sauid affiants to de-
termine whether or uot they are making true statements.
Under such procedure the State is deprived of searching
the conscience of said affiants by way of cross examina-
tion.

Again we desire to urge that for this Court to re-
verse the jndgment of the United States District Court
for the Western Division of the Eastern Districl of Ar
kansas, would open an avenue for every criminal charged
with viclating our State laws, to open “masked bat-
teries” on our State Courts, indefinitely.

We respectfully subimnit that the United States Dis-
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on of the Eastern Dis-

trict Court for the Western Divisi

. , n
trict of Arkansas, correctly sustained appellee’s demure

i it or a writ of
and motion to dismiss m%@m:ﬁ;% petition for

habeas corpus, and that the order and judgment of said

it this
court in dismissing said petition be affirmed by

Court.
Respectfully submitted,

J. 8. UTLEY,
Attorney General;

ELBERT GODWIN,
Assistant Attorney General;

wM. T. HAMMOCK,
Assistant Attorney General.




